Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-29-2017

Rinke v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44724

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Appellant Isaac Joseph Rinke was charged with four felony charges in his underlying criminal case in Ada County, Idaho. He eventually pled guilty to two charges, Felony Domestic Battery and Attempted Strangulation. Mr. Rinke filed a Petition For Post-Conviction Relief against his appointed counsel. The District Court summarily dismissed Mr. Rinke's Petition.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Mr. Rinke was charged on September 12, 2013 with four felony charges, Felony Domestic Battery (I.C. §18-918(2)), Attempted Strangulation (I.C. §18-923), Aggravated Assault With a Deadly Weapon or Instrument (I.C. §18-905(a)), and Second Degree Kidnapping (I.C. §18-4501). The State also filed a sentencing enhancement for Use of a Deadly Weapon in the Commission of a Felony (I.C. §19-2520).

The Court appointed the Ada County Public Defender's Office to represent Mr. Rinke. Mr. Rinke was represented in the case by attorneys Ann Cosho, Reed Smith and Anthony Geddes of the Ada County Public Defender's Office. Mr. Smith acted as lead counsel. Ms. Cosho only represented Mr. Rinke at the Magistrate Court level, for Mr. Rinke's preliminary hearing (which was waived). Mr. Geddes only represented Mr. Rinke at his sentencing hearing, as Mr. Smith was unavailable for the hearing date.

Mr. Rinke suffered from significant mental health issues during the pendency of his case. (*See* R. 382 (Tr. p. 75, l. 5 to p. 76, l. 12)). He was never comprehensively evaluated for mental health status or competency or for his ability to assist in his own defense.

Mr. Rinke pled guilty on October 10, 2013 to two charges, Felony Domestic Battery and Attempted Strangulation. The State dismissed the remaining charges and the sentencing enhancement.

The District Court Judge, Michael Wetherell, sentenced Mr. Rinke to a maximum term of ten years on the Felony Domestic Battery charge, and a maximum term of fifteen years on the Attempted Strangulation charge. The District Court ordered the sentences to run consecutively to each other, for a total term of twenty-five years imprisonment, with ten years determinate and fifteen years indeterminate. Mr. Rinke is currently incarcerated at the Idaho State Correctional Institution in Boise, Idaho.

Mr. Rinke appealed from the judgment of conviction to the Idaho Supreme Court. (Docket Number #41696-2013). The Idaho State Appellate Public Defender's Office represented Mr. Rinke on the direct appeal. The Idaho Court of Appeals denied Mr. Rinke's appeal, and affirmed the judgment and sentence imposed therein. The Court of Appeals issued its remittitur in the appeal to the District Court on August 26, 2014.

Mr. Rinke filed his Petition For Post-Conviction Relief on June 25, 2015. He subsequently filed an Amended Petition For Post-Conviction Relief on August 2, 2016. Mr. Rinke filed numerous documents, affidavits and records in support of his post-conviction petition.

The State filed a motion for summary dismissal of Mr. Rinke's post-conviction case. The matter proceeded to hearing on October 11, 2016. Judge Samuel Hoagland presided over the proceedings, as Judge Michael Wetherell had retired in the interim.

The District Court issued its opinion on November 21, 2016, in which it granted summary dismissal of Mr. Rinke's post-conviction petition. The Court issued Judgment in favor of the State and against Mr. Rinke on November 23, 2016.

Mr. Rinke filed this appeal on December 23, 2016.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether the District Court committed reversible error by summarily dismissing Mr. Rinke's Post-Conviction Petition?

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Committed Reversible Error By Summarily Dismissing Mr. Rinke's Petition For Post-Conviction Relief.

A. Introduction

An application for Post-Conviction Relief ("PCR") under Idaho Code §19-4901 *et seq.*, initiates a special proceeding, which is civil in nature, and is an entirely new proceeding, distinct from the criminal action which led to the conviction. *Paradis v. State*, 110 Idaho 534, 536 (1986); *Reynolds v. State*, 126 Idaho 24, 27 (Ct. App. 1994). In a post-conviction proceeding, the burden is on the petitioner to establish grounds for relief by a preponderance of the evidence. *Cosio-Nava v. State*, ___ Idaho ___ (2016)(2016 Opinion No. 119, ps. 3-4, Nov. 2, 2016); *Martinez v. State*, 126 Idaho 813, 816 (Ct. App. 1995); *Reynolds, supra*; *Odom v. State*, 121 Idaho 625, 626 (Ct. App. 1992).

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

The petitioner's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel may be brought under the post-conviction procedure act. *Eddington v. State*, ___ Idaho ___ (Ct. App. 2017)(2017 Opinion No. 25, p. 4, May 8, 2017); *Goodwin v. State*, 138 Idaho 269, 272 (Ct. App. 2002).

The Sixth Amendment guarantees a defendant the effective assistance of counsel at "critical stages of a criminal proceeding", including when the defendant enters a guilty plea. *Jae Lee v. U.S.*, 582 U.S. ___, ___, ___ S.Ct. ___, ___ L.Ed.2d ___ (2017)(issued June 23, 2017)(citing *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 165, 132 S.Ct. 1376, 182 L.Ed.2d 398 (2012); *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 58, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985)).

The United States Supreme Court issued its landmark ruling on ineffective assistance of counsel claims in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052,

80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). In *Strickland*, the United States Supreme Court first defined the right to counsel contained within the Sixth Amendment as the right to the effective assistance of counsel. *Id.*, 466 U.S. at 686 (citing *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 771, n. 14, 90 S.Ct. 1441, 25 L.Ed.2d 763 (1970)). Counsel can deprive a defendant of the right to effective assistance of counsel simply by failing to render “adequate legal assistance.” *Id.* (citing *Cuyler v. Sullivan*, 446 U.S. 335, 344, 100 S.Ct. 1708, 64 L.Ed.2d 333 (1980)). The purpose of the right is, simply, to ensure a fair trial. *Id.* “The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” *Id.*

The *Strickland* case established a two-prong test for analyzing ineffective assistance of counsel claims. To prevail on a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, the Petitioner must demonstrate (1) that trial counsel’s performance was “deficient”, and (2) that the Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel’s performance. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. This standard has been applied word-for-word by the Idaho appellate courts. *See, e.g., Wurdemann v. State*, ___ Idaho ___ (2017)(2017 Opinion No. 24, p. 4, Feb. 28, 2017); *Estrada v. State*, 143 Idaho 558, 561 (2006).

To establish that trial counsel’s performance was deficient, the petitioner must show that the attorney’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688; *LaBelle v. State*, 130 Idaho 115, 118 (Ct. App. 1997). The proper measure of attorney performance is “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688; *Wurdemann, supra*, p. 10. The petitioner must overcome a presumption that the attorney’s conduct falls within a

wide range of reasonable professional assistance and sound trial strategy. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689; *Estrada*, 143 Idaho at 561.

Proving “prejudice” requires a showing that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Saykhamchone v. State*, 127 Idaho 319, 323 (1995)(citing *Strickland, supra*); *Parrott v. State*, 117 Idaho 272, 275 (1990). A “reasonable probability” is defined as “a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *Booth v. State*, 151 Idaho 612, 618 (2011)(citing *McKay v. State*, 148 Idaho 567, 570 (2010) and *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694).

In summary, in cases like Mr. Rinke’s where the petitioner pleads guilty and then asserts a PCR claim, the "prejudice requirement ... focuses on whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process. In other words, in order to satisfy the "prejudice" requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.” *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. at 59.

The *Strickland* decision outlines specific duties that trial counsel must honor in representing criminal defendants. Counsel must assist the defendant as part and parcel of counsel’s duty of loyalty to the defendant. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. Counsel’s “overarching duty” to advocate the defendant’s cause includes the duty to consult with the defendant on important decisions and to keep the defendant informed of important developments in the course” of the case. *Id.* Counsel has a duty to make “reasonable investigations” regarding the case. *Id.*, 466 U.S. at 691. Counsel has a duty to “bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process.” *Id.*, 466 U.S. at 688.

The United States Supreme Court has declared that the “ultimate focus of the inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness” of the proceedings throughout the case. *Id.*, 466 U.S. at 696. They further declared that

“In every case, the court should be concerned with whether, despite the strong presumption of reliability, the result of the particular proceeding is unreliable because of a breakdown in the adversarial process that our system counts on to produce just results.” *Id.*

B. Standard of Review

On review of a dismissal of a post-conviction relief application without an evidentiary hearing, the appellate court will determine whether a genuine issue of fact exists based on the pleadings, depositions and admissions together with any affidavits on file. *Wheeler v. State*, ___ Idaho ___ (2017)(2017 Opinion No. 72, p. 3, June 21, 2017) (citing *Workman v. State*, 144 Idaho 518, 523 (2007)(further citations omitted). A claim for post-conviction relief may only be summarily dismissed if it does not present a genuine issue of material fact. *Id.* (citing 19-4906(b); *Baldwin v. State*, 145 Idaho 148, 153 (2008)); *Thomas v. State*, __ Idaho __, 389 P.3d 200 (Ct. App. 2017)(2017 Opinion No. 6, p. 3, Jan. 27, 2017).

Over questions of law in post-conviction summary dismissal, the courts are to exercise free review. *Ash v. State*, __ Idaho __ (Ct. App. 2017)(2017 Opinion No. 27 p. 4, June 7, 2017)(citing *Rhoades v. State*, 148 Idaho 247, 250 (2009) and *Downing v. State*, 136 Idaho 367, 370 (Ct. App. 2001)).

The Idaho Supreme Court has addressed the matter of uncontroverted allegations in post-conviction claims. Although courts need not accept the petitioner’s ultimate conclusions, courts are required to accept the petitioner’s un rebutted allegations as true. *Saykhamchone, supra* (citing *Kraft v. State*, 100 Idaho 671, 674 (1979)); *Bure v. State*,

126 Idaho 253, 254 (Ct. App. 1994). The Court’s language in the referenced cases leaves no doubt that this is a mandatory, rather than discretionary, determination. If the petitioner’s allegations are un rebutted, they must be accepted as true and accurate, and treated as same by the court. Further, “ ... the courts must liberally construe the facts and draw reasonable inferences in favor of the petitioner.” *Wheeler, supra* (citing *Charboneau v. State*, 140 Idaho 789, 792 (2004)).

C. Rinke was only required to show a prima facie case to avoid summary dismissal.

At the summary judgment stage of the proceedings, Mr. Rinke was not required to prove his case by a preponderance of the evidence. Rather, for purposes of surviving summary judgment or summary dismissal, Mr. Rinke was only required to establish a *prima facie* case of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Ash, supra*, at 3; *Schultz v. State*, 153 Idaho 791, 796 (Ct. App. 2012). Mr. Rinke respectfully asserts that the District Court erred by requiring Mr. Rinke to show more than a *prima facie* case at the summary judgment stage.

Mr. Rinke provided evidence to support each of his claims, as discussed in detail below. Mr. Rinke recognized that while the parties and the District Court may have disagreed about the strength of that evidence, the District Court erred by not conceding that Mr. Rinke had clearly provided evidence on each claim in his PCR Petition. In doing so, Mr. Rinke laid out a *prima facie* case of ineffective assistance of counsel, and therefore, summary dismissal was simply inappropriate. *See Payne v. State*, 159 Idaho 879, 883 (Ct. App. 2016); *Charboneau*, 140 Idaho at 792. Since a genuine issue of material fact had been presented with supporting evidence, the District Court should have denied summary dismissal and conducted an evidentiary hearing to resolve the factual

issues. *Takhsilov v. State*, ___ Idaho ___, 389 P.3d 955 (Ct. App. 2016)(2016 Opinion No. 136, p. 4, Nov. 23, 2016)(citing *Goodwin, supra*, 138 Idaho at 272).

The District Court erred by granting summary judgment and failing to allow Mr. Rinke an evidentiary hearing. This Court should remedy that error.

D. The Petitioner Provided Sufficient Evidence in Support of His Post-Conviction Petition To Avoid Summary Judgment.

In order to avoid summary judgment and move on to an evidentiary hearing in his PCR case, Mr. Rinke was required to present evidence making a *prima facie* case on each element of his claims. *Ash, supra; Schultz, supra; Payne*, 159 Idaho at 883. Mr. Rinke met his burden, as discussed in detail below.

1. Evidence in support of First Cause of Action

Mr. Rinke's first cause of action focused on errors and omissions of his trial court counsel during the "pre-trial phase" of his criminal case. (*See* R. 008-09, 280-82). Mr. Rinke alleged that his counsel failed to adequately prepare Mr. Rinke's defense for trial, failed to spend sufficient time with and confer with Mr. Rinke regarding trial strategies and defenses, and failed to investigate information, important evidence, and potential witnesses, to bolster Mr. Rinke's chances of establishing a viable defense to the charges against him. (*Id.*). Mr. Rinke's claims were based on the directive of the U.S. Supreme Court in *Strickland*, requiring trial counsel to "conduct reasonable investigations" as part of his mandated duties in representation of criminally-accused persons. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691.

The District Court rejected these claims, basically on the grounds that Mr. Rinke failed to inform the Court of any issues at his plea colloquy (R. 498-99). Regarding the

failure to investigate and interview witnesses, the Court ignored the evidence offered in support of these claims and instead offered cursory legal conclusions. (R. 500). Regarding counsel's failure to obtain physical evidence, the Court again ignored relevant evidence in support of these claims, and instead offered the legal conclusion that Mr. Rinke failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact. (R. 501). Most importantly, it appears that the District Court did not follow the appropriate standard, and required Mr. Rinke to show more than a *prima facie* case at the summary judgment stage of the PCR proceedings. *See Ash, supra*, at 3; *Blackburn v. State*, __ Idaho __, 391 P.3d 654 (Ct. App. 2017)(2017 Opinion No. 12, p. 3, Feb. 9, 2017).

Rinke provided evidence and proof in support of the claims comprising his first cause of action, in the form of his sworn statements in his initial PCR petition and in his two affidavits. (*See* R. 008-09, 280-282, 300-07, 315-319).

Mr. Rinke's affidavits outlined and explained these allegations in detail, including the specific witnesses and evidence he requested that his counsel pursue in his defense. (*See* R. 303-305, 314-20).

Concerning his claim that his attorney failed to investigate evidence and witnesses in his defense, Mr. Rinke also submitted evidence in the form of affidavits from potential defense witnesses Rebecca Goodwin, Yurek Hansen, Jonathan Scaggs and Jim Moison. (*See* R. 350-65).

Ms. Goodwin's affidavit and Mr. Hansen's affidavit provided crucial information regarding their respective conversations with the complaining witness after the alleged events that led to Mr. Rinke's arrest and charges. Mr. Rinke alleged that these versions differed significantly from the version of events which the complaining witness provided

to investigating officers and to the Court, creating ripe grounds for cross-examination and impeachment of the State's only witness. Mr. Rinke testified that he requested that his counsel contact these witnesses and interview them regarding this crucial evidence. (*See* R. 303-04). Counsel failed to do so. This allegation was not controverted by the State.

Mr. Moison's affidavit provided potentially valuable impeachment evidence against the State's only eyewitness and complaining witness. Mr. Rinke's counsel could have utilized this evidence to attack the veracity and credibility of the State's key witness, and frame her character for untruthfulness, pursuant to Idaho Rule of Evidence 608, significantly bolstering Mr. Rinke's defense. Counsel failed to contact this witness or pursue this evidence, according to Mr. Moison. This was not disputed by the State.

These affidavits confirmed counsel's failure to contact these important witnesses and obtain this crucial evidence, despite direct requests from his client to do so. In providing these affidavits in support of his claims, Mr. Rinke raised a genuine issue of material fact, meeting his burden to defeat summary dismissal on this count. *See McKinney v. State*, __ Idaho __ (2017)(2017 Opinion No. 64, p. 4, June 20, 2017); Idaho Code §19-4906(c). The District Court erred by ruling otherwise.

Mr. Rinke filed a second Affidavit which outlined and explained these allegations in more detail, and included the specific documents which he requested his counsel obtain in his defense. (*See* R. 314-65).

In Mr. Rinke's second affidavit, he provided additional evidence to support his claim regarding his counsel's failure to obtain physical evidence in Mr. Rinke's defense, in the form of phone and work records. (*See* R. 314-43). Mr. Rinke's second affidavit outlined the importance of this evidence, and how it could have been utilized by his

counsel to attack the State's only witness' credibility and bolster a defense against the charges. Again, this constituted substantial proof in support of his claims, and satisfied the initial threshold for overcoming summary disposition.

In addition, Mr. Rinke alleged that his counsel failed to request a comprehensive mental health evaluation in the case, and provided no notice to the Court of Mr. Rinke's depreciated mental status, despite his awareness that Mr. Rinke was experiencing serious mental health issues and may have lacked the capacity to assist in his own defense or enter a valid plea. Mr. Rinke provided direct evidence of this claim through his PCR Petition as well as his Affidavit in support. (*See* R. 282-83, 305-09). Notably, Mr. Rinke's counsel *conceded* that they were aware of his ongoing mental health issues, in counsel's own statements to the District Court at sentencing. (*See* R. 382 (Tr. p. 75, l. 5 to p. 76, l. 12)(stating that "from the very beginning", Mr. Rinke's counsel and the prosecuting attorney were aware of and concerned with Rinke's mental health status)).

Mr. Rinke provided substantial additional evidence to support this particular claim, in the form of the report of Dr. Clay H. Ward, PhD, a respected Boise neuropsychologist. Dr. Ward's report provided crucial evidence regarding Mr. Rinke's mental state and mental health status during the pendency of the case. (*See* R. 392-99)(consisting of Dr. Ward's *Neuropsychological Evaluation of Isaac Rinke*). Dr. Ward indicated that the

"records suggest he started decompensating mentally in response to a combination of work and relational stress, marijuana use, and his spouse having a miscarriage. There is strong evidence he was experiencing an acute mental health exacerbation and crisis when incarcerated on his current offenses. I saw no evidence in the record that his mental state was stabilized prior to his legal proceedings." *Id.* at p. 8.

For purposes of attempted summary dismissal by the State, the report provided more than ample evidence to support Mr. Rinke's PCR claim, and demonstrated that Mr. Rinke was entitled to a hearing on the merits. *See Garza v. State*, __ Idaho __ (Ct. App. 2017)(2017 Opinion No. 7, p.4, Feb. 2, 2017); *Schultz v. State*, 155 Idaho 877, 881, 318 P.3d 646, 650 (Ct. App. 2013)(holding that when "a genuine issue of material fact is presented, an evidentiary hearing must be conducted to resolve the factual issues").

Mr. Rinke provided additional evidence to support this claim in the form of an affidavit from his acquaintance, Jonathan Scaggs. Mr. Scaggs' affidavit provided insight and information regarding Mr. Rinke's rapidly declining mental health state during the days leading up to the events in question. (*See* R. 362-63). This sworn testimony provided further evidence that Mr. Rinke's claim had merit and should not have been summarily dismissed.

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