Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

10-25-2017

### Rinke v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44724

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### Rinke Failed To Present A Viable Claim That His Guilty Plea Was A Result Of Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel

##### A. Introduction

Rinke alleged that his guilty plea was the result of his attorney's failure to provide effective assistance of counsel. Specifically, he claimed counsel "failed to adequately prepare Mr. Rinke's defense to the criminal charges," which led him to "having no choice but to plead guilty" (R., pp. 280-82); "failed to request a competency examination or mental health evaluation," which would have led to evidence he was "experiencing an acute mental health exacerbation and crisis" that resulted in him entering a plea that "may not have been knowing, voluntary [and] intelligent" (R., pp. 282-83, 284-86); failed to "adequately inform" him of "the elements of the offenses" he pled guilty to, which resulted in him pleading guilty despite having "affirmative defenses" (R., pp. 283-84); and made statements about the proffered plea agreement that "were not accurate or were not placed on the record" (R., p. 286). Review of the record and application of the correct legal standards shows the district court properly dismissed these claims as either disproved by the record or being bare and conclusory.

##### B. Standard Of Review

"On review of a dismissal of a post-conviction relief application without an evidentiary hearing, this Court will determine whether a genuine issue of fact exists based on the pleadings, depositions and admissions together with any affidavits on file ...." Workman v. State, 144 Idaho 518, 523, 164 P.3d 798, 803 (2007) (citing Gilpin-Grubb v. State, 138 Idaho 76, 80, 57 P.3d 787, 791 (2002)).

C. Rinke Has Shown No Error In The Summary Dismissal Of His Claims Of Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel Related To His Guilty Plea

Post-conviction proceedings are governed by the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act. I.C. § 19-4901, *et seq.* Idaho Code § 19-4906 authorizes summary dismissal of an application for post-conviction relief, in response to a party's motion or on the court's own initiative, if the applicant "has not presented evidence making a prima facie case as to each essential element of the claims upon which the applicant bears the burden of proof." Berg v. State, 131 Idaho 517, 518, 960 P.2d 738, 739 (1998). "Allegations contained in the application are insufficient for the granting of relief when (1) they are clearly disproved by the record of the original proceedings, or (2) do not justify relief as a matter of law." Workman, 144 Idaho at 522, 164 P.3d at 802.

In order to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a post-conviction petitioner must demonstrate both deficient performance and resulting prejudice. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984); State v. Charboneau, 116 Idaho 129, 137, 774 P.2d 299, 307 (1989). With respect to the deficient performance prong, the United States Supreme Court has articulated the defendant's burden under Strickland as follows:

To establish deficient performance, a person challenging a conviction must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. A court considering a claim of ineffective assistance must apply a strong presumption that counsel's representation was within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. The challenger's burden is to show that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.

Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 104 (2011) (citations and quotations omitted). To establish prejudice, a defendant must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. Richter,

562 U.S. at 104. When the alleged deficiency involves counsel’s advice in relation to a guilty plea, “in order to satisfy the ‘prejudice’ requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.” Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985) (footnote and citations omitted).

Application of these standards shows no error in the district court’s order summarily dismissing Rinke’s claims of ineffective assistance of counsel related to the guilt-phase of the underlying criminal proceedings.

1. Rinke’s Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel Claims For Inadequate Consultation And Investigation Were Meritless And Properly Dismissed

Rinke alleged counsel “failed to spend sufficient time” with him and failed to “adequately confer” with him prior to Rinke pleading guilty to felony domestic violence and attempted strangulation. (R., p. 280.) He alleged counsel failed to inform him of the elements of the crimes to which he ultimately pled. (R., pp. 283-84.) He presented an affidavit claiming his attorney met with him “approximately three times”—once for an hour and one-half and twice for a “few minutes”—and spoke with him on the phone “approximately 2 times” with one call lasting “approximately 20 minutes.” (R., pp. 63-64.) Rinke asserted counsel failed to advise him of “the actual elements of the offenses,” and “the specific details of the complaining witness’ allegations,” stating instead that they “talked in general terms about the charges and the facts.” (R., p. 64.) As to prejudice, he asserted: “Had I known the specific elements of the offenses, and specifically that Felony Domestic Battery required evidence that I inflicted a ‘traumatic injury’ (*Idaho Code* §18-918(1)(b), (2)(a)), and Attempted Strangulation required a specific intent to choke or strangle (*Idaho Code* §18-923(3)), I would never have pled guilty.” (R., p. 65.)

The district court concluded that, at the plea colloquy, Rinke, under oath, represented to the court that he was pleading guilty because he was in fact guilty; that his attorney had informed him of his rights, defenses and the possible consequences of his plea; that he was satisfied with his attorney's performance; that he had fully discussed pleading guilty with his attorney; and that he had "enough time to discuss these matters with his attorney." (R., pp. 498-99 (citing #41696 Tr., p. 15, L. 25 – p. 16, L. 22; p. 17, Ls. 1-8; p. 19, Ls. 17-24).) Thus, the record established that Rinke "was advised at length of his constitutional rights and he knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waived those rights when he pled guilty." (R., p. 499.) The court then determined, "assuming" counsel spent inadequate time consulting with Rinke, Rinke had failed to present evidence of how this "affected the outcome of [the] case and why [Rinke] would have insisted on going to trial." (R., p. 500.) Moreover, the record affirmatively disproved Rinke's claim he was unaware of the elements of the crimes to which he pled guilty. (R., p. 501.)

The record supports the district court's analysis. At his plea colloquy, Rinke stated he understood "the nature of the charges" against him (#41696 Tr., p. 10, Ls. 13-17); stated he understood the consequences of pleading guilty (#41696 Tr., p. 10, L. 13 – p. 12, L. 11); denied pleading guilty "just to get it over with, even though [he believed he's] innocent" (#41696 Tr., p. 13, Ls. 13-15); stated the reason he was pleading guilty was because he was guilty (#41696 Tr., p. 15, L. 25 – p. 16, L. 5); and acknowledged he "fully discuss[ed] the matter of pleading guilty with [his] attorney," felt he "had enough time to discuss these matters with [his] attorney," and stated that his attorney had, to his satisfaction, advised him of his rights, defenses, and the possible consequences of pleading guilty (#41696 Tr., p. 16, L. 12 – p. 17, L. 8). The court explained to Rinke, as part of the plea colloquy, what

facts the state would have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt for a jury to convict Rinke of the two charges, including that the state would have to prove he “inflicted a traumatic injury” on the victim and that he “did willfully and unlawfully choke or attempt to strangle” the victim, and Rinke stated he understood. (#41696 Tr., p. 18, L. 6 – p. 20, L. 4.) Rinke specifically admitted that he committed the offense of domestic violence by throwing a water bottle at the victim, which ricocheted off a wall and “smashed into her head,” and answered “yes” to whether the victim “in fact” received injuries of “swelling and redness in the head.” (#41696 Tr., p. 21, Ls. 8-20.) He admitted he committed the offense of attempted strangulation by “grab[bing] her while she was lying in bed and squeez[ing] her around the throat.” (#41696 Tr., p. 21, L. 21 – p. 22, L. 2.)

Rinke claimed in post-conviction that his attorney failed to spend sufficient time consulting with him, but he stated in his plea colloquy that his attorney had spent sufficient time with him. Rinke claimed in post-conviction that his attorney failed to inform him of the elements of the crime—specifically the elements of “traumatic injury” and intent to choke or strangle—but Rinke acknowledged in his plea colloquy that he understood the state had to prove these things beyond a reasonable doubt before a jury could convict him. The record amply supports the district court’s dismissal of this claim, and Rinke provides no specific argument otherwise. (Appellant’s brief, pp. 14-19.)

Rinke also alleged counsel “failed to investigate” prior to the entry of his guilty pleas. (R., p. 280.) The evidence of counsel’s alleged failure to investigate the case consisted primarily of claims that counsel failed to interview 11 potential defense witnesses as requested by Rinke. (R., pp. 66-67.) Rinke presented affidavits from four of those alleged potential witnesses, who stated they had not been contacted regarding the case. (R.,

pp. 350-65.) Rebecca Goodwin's affidavit stated that, if contacted, she would have testified that the victim told her Rinke "aggressively pushed her up against a wall, that he put his hands around her neck, that she felt some 'crunching' as a result, and that she had hit her head as a result of being pushed up against the wall." (R., p. 351.) Yurek Hansen would have testified that the victim told him Rinke had "thrown her or slammed her against a wall" and "threw a water bottle which bounced off of a wall and hit her in the head, during the same series of events." (R., p. 355.) Jim Moison, the victim's ex-husband, stated the victim had "a history of dishonesty and deceit" who would "engage in dishonesty for her own purposes," and gave a couple of alleged examples of dishonest behavior. (R., pp. 358-59.) Jonathon Scaggs, a co-worker of Rinke's, would have testified that near the time of the crimes Rinke appeared depressed and made statements about hurting himself, so he encouraged Rinke to get help, which he did. (R., pp. 362-63.) Rinke asserted in his affidavits that he "felt like [he] was left with no other choice than to plead guilty" because his attorney "was not willing or able to pursue the evidence and witnesses necessary ... to stage a strong defense against the charges." (R., pp. 305, 320-21.)

Rinke's allegations fail to show a *prima facie* claim of either deficient performance or prejudice. Although failure to contact potential defense witnesses prior to trial would likely constitute deficient performance, Rinke has failed to show why it would be deficient performance to recommend that Rinke accept the state's offer to dismiss two felony charges and the enhancement in exchange for guilty pleas to two of the charges prior to speaking with all of the potential defense witnesses. Rinke did not, for example, allege that counsel was unaware of what evidence Rinke believed the witnesses could provide when he made his recommendation that Rinke plead guilty. "In assessing the

reasonableness of counsel's investigation, we consider not only the quantum of evidence known to counsel, but also whether the known evidence would lead a reasonable attorney to investigate further." Stevens v. State, 156 Idaho 396, 412–13, 327 P.3d 372, 388–89 (Ct. App. 2013). Rinke presented no reason why a reasonably competent counsel would have investigated further than what his client told him about potential defense witnesses prior to recommending acceptance of the state's plea offer.

Rinke's claim of prejudice fails for similar reasons. Rinke does not claim he was ignorant of what the potential defense witnesses would have testified to. "In order to demonstrate prejudice, a petitioner is required to show that as a result of counsel's deficient performance 'there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.'" Ridgley v. State, 148 Idaho 671, 676, 227 P.3d 925, 930 (2010) (quoting Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985)). His affidavit asserts that he pled guilty because he "felt" his attorney was not going to present a vigorous defense and "realized" his attorney "was not going to interview the potential witnesses," but he does not assert his attorney ever told him this and presents no other basis (much less evidence) for his "feelings" and "realization." (R., pp. 305, 320–21.) The record shows Rinke accepted the state's plea offer and entered his guilty pleas within a month of the filing of the complaint and within two weeks of the filing of the information. (#41696 R., pp. 5, 34, 41.) No trial was ever scheduled because, at the arraignment, the parties requested that the matter be set for entry of plea. (#41696 R., p. 40.) Rinke's subjective belief that counsel's failure to interview his 11 witnesses within a month after the complaint was filed meant that such interviews would never occur and



therefore he could not get a fair as-yet-not-scheduled trial did not establish a claim of prejudice meriting an evidentiary hearing.

On appeal Rinke argues the district court erred because he did establish a *prima facie* claim of ineffective assistance of counsel and there was a genuine issue of material fact. (Appellant’s brief, p. 13.) Specifically, Rinke argues that the evidence from the potential witnesses would have created “ripe grounds for cross-examination and impeachment” of the victim and counsel failed to “obtain this crucial evidence.” (Appellant’s brief, pp. 15-17.) Although this might be a potentially meritorious argument had this case proceeded to trial, it is irrelevant to whether counsel acted competently in relation to the guilty plea. There was no cross-examination or impeachment of the victim at the guilty plea proceedings and, according to his own factual claims, Rinke and his counsel were aware of the witnesses and their potential testimony (even if counsel had not “obtain[ed]” the testimony) when they decided to enter the plea agreement with the state. Rinke has failed to show that counsel was constitutionally required to talk to the potential witnesses prior to entering the plea agreement, or that there was a reasonable probability that Rinke would have elected to proceed to trial instead of enter the plea agreement had counsel talked to the witnesses.

2. Rinke’s Claim Counsel Was Ineffective For Not Obtaining A Competency Evaluation Or A Mental Health Evaluation For Sentencing Was Meritless And Properly Dismissed

Rinke alleged counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain a competency evaluation prior to entry of the guilty plea. (R., pp. 282-85.) He supported this claim with (a) his own affidavit claiming he “experienced a complete mental breakdown” after his arrest, was placed on a “strong anti-psychotic medication” by jail staff, and stabilized only after being

incarcerated in the prison (R. pp. 68-70); (b) a report from Dr. Ward concluding there was “strong evidence” Rinke was “experiencing an acute mental health exacerbation and crisis when incarcerated” and “no evidence” that Rinke’s mental state was “stabilized prior to his medical proceedings” (R., p. 399); (c) the affidavit of Jonathon Scaggs stating that Rinke appeared depressed and made statements about hurting himself near the time of the crimes (R., pp. 362-63); and (d) jail medical records showing Rinke was treated for mental health issues, was placed on suicide watch, and reported symptoms of anxiety (R., pp. 259-76). The district court rejected the competency evaluation claim because there was “no evidence showing that [Rinke] was incompetent during the proceedings in the underlying case, or that his counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain a mental health evaluation.” (R., p. 495.) The district court further stated that a mental health evaluation was done for sentencing, which did not indicate Rinke was incompetent. (R., pp. 495-96.) The court noted that Rinke’s claim that counsel should have involved him more in preparing his own defense was inconsistent with any claim of incompetence. (R., p. 496.) Finally, the district court concluded that Dr. Ward’s statement that Rinke was not stabilized during the legal proceedings was “conclusory and contrary to the record in the underlying case.” (R., pp. 496-97.)

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